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The Netherlands 
 
25.07.2001 
 
Dear Mr. Dercon 
 
I am writing to you in my capacity as co-ordinator of the Courtauld Institute Gallery’s 
research into the issue of looted art in the World War II and Holocaust period. The 
Courtauld has assumed a leading role in this work and is proud to have published two 
Provenance Research lists under the auspices of the National Museum Directors 
Conference. We are confident that we are continuing to discharge our public duty in this 
respect and are proceeding with a sensitivity, transparency and caution that the issue 
requires. 
 
Late last year we received a claim for three paintings by Peter Paul Rubens from Christine 
Koenigs, the granddaughter of Franz Koenigs of Haarlem, whose tragic story you will 
certainly be familiar with. The three paintings are: The conversion of St Paul, the Bounty of 
James triumphing over Avarice (A sketch for the Whitehall ceiling) and St. Gregory the Great 
and St. Domitilla with Sts. Maurus, Papianus, Nereus und Achileus. All three were acquired 
by Count Antoine seilern in April/May 1940 from Jacques Goudstikker of Amsterdam, with 
Seilern being advised by J.G. van Gelder. We are currently engaged in a fact finding exercise 
which, we hope, will enable us to better judge the merits of the case. In my personal 
opinion, a first analysis of the available information suggests that the Gallery has strong title 
to the works. I am writing principally to enquire whether you might be able to provide us 
with some assistance. Certain details of what happened to the Koenigs collection 
(particularly in our case, the paintings) still seem somewhat unclear. I imagine that experts 
at the Museum Boijmans- Van Beuningen have a more complete understanding of the facts 
and a greater level to access to historical records than is possible in London. We would be 
very grateful for any information which you might be able to share. John Murdoch, the 
director of the gallery, could easily fly over to Rotterdam if you felt that an informal 
conversation would be suitable. Might I also ask whether there are any members of the 
Dutch government or the academic community who might usefully be approached in the 
spirit of open enquiry? 
 
You may be aware that a comparable question has risen over the ex-Lubomirski drawings, 
dispersed throughout various European and North American collections. Representatives of 
the museums involved will be gathering for a seminar in September. The Koenigs case has 



perhaps not progressed to that level but I wonder whether similar co-operation might not 
benefit all those concerned without, of course, prejudicing any legal case. We would 
appreciate any information or assistance and would certainly reciprocate where possible. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
Signature 
Ernst Vegelin van Claerbergen 
Curator of Paintings 
 
Ps. Do please reply in Dutch if you prefer. I have been abroad so long that my native spelling 
tends to let me down 
 





















OCenW                              TRANSLATION 
Ministry of OC&W 
Mr. drs. R.J.M. van Hengstrum /DCE        
 
Restitution    The Hague 
    19 december 2002 
 
Dear Mr. van Hengstrum, 
 
Herewith I hand over enclosed letter from the Courtauld Institute for a response to you.  
It somehow surprises me that the questioner was sent by your department to us,  
because it is the agreement that the Inspection Cultural Property is no longer involved with such 
matters. We do like to receive a copy of your answer to the Courtauld Institute because this is an  
important relation to the inspection.  
with friendly regards, 
 
Ch.E. van Rappard-Boon           in handwriting: 
Head Inspection Cultural Property      9/1 e-mail to Evelien  
            with request for information 
 
      - - - - - - - - - - -   
 
CFK’s comment: after Christmas recess is over,  
     Charlotte van Rappard-Boon, emails on 9 January 2003, 
     Evelien Campfens, the administrator and rapporteur researcher 
     of the Restitution Committee (her former employee) for information to  
     satisfy her curiosity 
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